## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

F.P.,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

JOSEPH MONIER,

Defendant and Appellant.

No. S216566

3 Civil No. C062329

Sacramento County Superior Court Case No. 06AS00671

SUPREME COURT FILED

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

After a decision of the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

AUG - 6 2014

Deputy

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court Of the State of California, County of Sacramento Honorable Robert Ahern, Judge

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

The Court's order of April 16, 2014 granting review states, "The issue to be briefed and argued is limited to the following: Is a trial court's error in failing to issue a statement of decision upon a timely request reversible per se?"

#### INTRODUCTION

Some judicial errors "are regarded as so serious that, under any circumstances, they must be deemed prejudicial." 9 Witkin, Cal. Procedure 5th (2008), Appeal § 453, p. 508. Failure to make findings—or in the current practice, to render a statement of decision—is in this class of reversible error per se. *Id.*, § 457; see also Eisenberg, Horvitz & Wiener, Cal. Prac. Guide: Civ. App. & Writs (2013) §§ 8:25, 8:317.

This Court agrees that the failure to make findings when required """results in prejudicial error entitling the complaining suitor to reversal.""

Estate of Pendell (1932) 216 Cal. 384, 386, quoting Frascona v. Los Angeles Ry. Corp. (1920) 48 Cal.App.135, 137. The Court repeated that the failure to make required findings "constitutes prejudicial and reversible error." Carpenter v. Pac. Mut. Life Ins. Co. of Cal. (1937) 10 Cal.2d 307, aff'd sub nom. Neblett v. Carpenter (1938) 305 U.S. 297, 59 S.Ct. 170, 83 L.Ed. 182. The Court has continued to hold that when a trial court does not

make required findings, "reversal is compelled." Guardianship of Brown (1976) 16 Cal.3d 326, 333.

There is a qualification. Omitted findings must be on a material issue that could affect the outcome. But when a court fails to render a statement of decision on a material issue, the judgment must be reversed. Guardianship of Brown (1976) 16 Cal.3d 326, 333.

In the present case, despite a timely request, the trial court entered judgment without rendering a statement of decision on a material issue raised in the complaint and the evidence at trial, apportionment of damages mandated by Civil Code § 1431.2. By ignoring the request, the trial court subjected appellant, Joseph Monier ("Monier"), to the very harm the statute was designed to shield against: liability for damages attributable to another and beyond those attributable to Monier himself.

The court of appeal affirmed the judgment despite the failure to render a statement of decision on such a material issue. The court of appeal's judgment should be reversed with directions to reverse the judgment of the superior court.

#### STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

This is an appeal from a final judgment after a trial on the merits. CT 33-34, 90-93. The judgment finally disposes of all issues between the parties and is appealable under Code of Civil Procedure § 904.1(a)(1).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In February 2006, F.P. filed the present action against her cousin, defendant and appellant Joseph Monier, and his parents, Michael and Cecile Monier. F.P. alleged that Monier had sexually molested her almost 20 years before, when they were both minors. CT 1. She asserted a separate cause of action against Michael and Cecile for negligently failing to protect her from the alleged molestation. CT 3-4.

Monier denied the allegations and alleged an affirmative defense that others were comparatively liable for F.P.'s injuries, and that damages should be apportioned between all those at fault. CT 18:23-25, 20:1-12.

#### F.P. settles with parents

Prior to trial of the case against Monier, F.P. settled with his parents' homeowner's insurance company for \$275,000. CT 25-31.

A few months before F.P. filed this action, Monier's parents and other sister, Michelle Monier-Kilgore, sued F.P. after the death of Monier's other sister and F.P.'s cousin, Claudette Monier.. 1 RT 116:10-13, 2 RT 556:16-20. The lawsuit alleged that F.P. had obtained numerous benefits from Claudette, including life insurance benefits, through fraud, undue influence and other wrongful acts. While this action was pending, the jury found that F.P. had, indeed, defrauded Claudette and was unjustly enriched by her wrongful conduct. Subsequent to the judgment in this action, the court of appeal affirmed those findings. *Monier-Kilgore v. Flores*, 3 Civil No. C054502 (June 30, 2009).

Monier cites the court of appeal's decision only as a historical event, not as authority.

#### F.P.'s charges disputed

In the trial against Monier, F.P. testified that when she was about 10 and Monier was in his teens, she would regularly go to the Moniers' house after school to be looked after by her aunt, Monier's mother, while her father, who was her custodial parent, was at work. 1 RT 89-90, 94-98. She claimed that Jospeh molested her several times in his bedroom when she was at the Moniers' house. 1 RT 100-105.

She testified that her father also molested her a number of times during the same period. 1 RT 105:21-22.

Monier flatly denied her accusations. 3 RT 657-659. His mother, F.P.'s aunt Cecile, testified that her brother, F.P.'s father, never asked her to care for F.P. during the week, that she watched F.P. only occasionally on weekends. 2 RT 548:3-14. F.P.'s father's former employer testified that "most of the time he [F.P.'s father] would bring her [F.P.] after school was over . . . , and she would stay at the store" where her father worked. 3 RT 684:15-17. This "went on for probably months" during the time that F.P. claimed she was staying at Monier's after school and being molested by him. 3 RT 686:2-4.

Cecile also testified that Monier would not have had an opportunity to molest F.P. undetected since his bedroom was next to the kitchen. 2 RT 529:15-28, 532:5-533:2, 535.

# Dr. Wiggen: cannot differentiate between injuries caused by F.P.'s father and Monier

F.P. called only two witnesses other than herself: her treating psychologist, Dr. Laurie Wiggen, and a retained expert, Dr. Eugene Roeder. Dr. Wiggen treated F.P. from September 2005 until December 2007. 1 RT 207:24-28. She described F.P.'s injuries, which she attributed to her abuse:

A. Ms. [F.P.] has difficulty, significant difficulty, in interpersonal relationships with regard to trust, emotional intimacy, physical intimacy; she has difficulty containing emotions, regulating her emotions. [¶] She also has difficulty being in the presence of others when she is overwhelmed by memories or intrusive thoughts related to the abuse. I think it severely impacts her interpersonal relationships.

#### 1 RT 215:1-10.

Dr. Wiggen testified that F.P.'s psychological injuries could not be separately attributed to abuse by her father or the alleged abuse by Monier.

A. I don't think that there is a different manifestation of symptoms from one person to the other. [¶] I think they were cumatively [sic] impactful in their damage emotionally to her which presented as her mental health, emotional and psychiatric symptoms.

#### 1 RT 209:27-210:4.

#### Dr. Roeder agrees: not possible to differentiate

Dr. Roeder was hired by F.P.'s counsel to perform a psychological evaluation of her. 1 RT 52:2-23. He also testified that the injuries her father inflicted could not be differentiated from those Monier may have caused.

- Q. Now, Ms. [F.P.] reported to you that she was molested by two individuals. [¶] Is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Were you able to differentiate in in your evaluation of Ms.
  [F.P.] between symptoms that she was experiencing as a result of a molest from one as opposed to a molest from the other.

\*\*\*

A. In terms of presentation, I would have to say that would not be able to be distinguished.

\* \* \*

I am not able to differentiate in terms of symptoms; say this symptom is from dad and this symptom is from the cousin.

That's not possible.

1 RT 63:19-64:21.

But there was a significant difference, Dr. Roeder testified: "the sexual molestation by her father was dramatically more traumatic than by her cousin." 1 RT 64:9-12.

#### **Tentative decision**

The morning after closing argument, the judge announced his tentative decision from the bench. 4 RT 921-923. He found that Monier committed the acts F.P. alleged and that his conduct was a substantial factor in causing her injuries. 4 RT 922:15-23. He awarded damages as follows: "Special damages, medical past and future, \$10,296, lost income \$44,800, total special damages therefore \$55,096. [¶] Court awards general damages in the amount of \$250,000." 4 RT 922:25-923:3.

The judge gave no indication that he had apportioned general damages between Monier and the other tortfeasors, particularly F.P.'s father.

The judge instructed F.P.'s counsel to prepare a judgment. 3 RT 923

## Timely request for statement of decision ignored

The same day the court issued its tentative decision, Monier's counsel filed a request for a written statement of decision. Augmented CT 1. The request sought, among other things, a statement explaining the factual and legal basis "upon which the Court awarded special damages, [and] the basis upon which the court awarded emotional distress damages. . . . " Id.

The trial court, however, did not respond to the request. Instead, on May 1, 2009—just two days after delivering the oral tentative decision and the filing by Monier's counsel of the request for a statement of decision—the court, without rendering a statement of decision, entered judgment awarding F.P. \$55,096 in special damages and \$250,000 in general damages, for a total judgment of \$305,096, plus costs. CT 33-34.

Monier filed a timely notice of appeal on June 30, 2009. CT 66.

# Proceedings in the Third District Court of Appeal

The court of appeal, Third Appellate District, affirmed. F.P. v. Monier, 222 Cal.App.4th 1087, review granted. The court agreed that the trial court's failure to render a statement of decision "[c]learly" was error. Id. at 558. But, the court rejected Monier's argument that, under an unbroken series of court of appeal decisions, including a recent decision of the Third Appellate District itself, hold that failure to render a statement of decision on timely request is reversible error per se. Id. at 558-562. The court did not reverse the judgment, however, because in the court's view, the failure to render a statement of decision was not prejudicial within the meaning of article VI, § 13 of the California Constitution. Id. at 562-564.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Ι

# A WRITTEN STATEMENT OF THE FACTS SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION IS NECESSARY FOR MEANINGFUL APPELATE REVIEW AND EXERCISE OF THE RIGHT TO APPEAL

# A. The Court has consistently held that failure to make findings of fact requires reversal.

The Court held in its earliest decisions that a trial judge's findings are intended to "be the basis of the judgment in the same manner as the verdict of a jury; and it follows that without such decision the judgment cannot stand." Russel v. Armador (1852) 2 Cal. 305. Chief Justice Field echoed that, in a bench trial, the court, "besides performing its peculiar and appropriate duty of deciding the law, also discharges the functions of a jury, and passes upon the facts." Breeze v. Doyle (1861) 19 Cal. 101, 104; see also Garfield v. Knight's Ferry & Table Mountain Water Co. (1861) 17 Cal. 510, 512 (finding "is in the nature of a special verdict."); Jones v. Block (1866) 30 Cal. 227, 229 ("The finding takes the place of a verdict."); Murphy v. Bennett (1886) 68 Cal. 528, 536 ("the finding of facts by a court is, in substance, a special verdict...").

The Court held in *Pendell* that ""the right to findings [under Code of Civil Procedure § 632] is a substantial right, as inviolate, under the statute, as that of trial by jury under the Constitution."" *Id.*, 216 Cal. at 386 (internal citations omitted). Therefore, as noted in the Introduction, the {00042176; 13}

failure to make findings when required ""results in prejudicial error entitling the complaining suitor to reversal."" *Id.*; see also *Carpenter*, 10 Cal.2d at 326.

- B. A statement of decision serves important policies to the benefit of the appellate courts and the parties.
  - 1. A statement of decision allows a litigant to meaningfully exercise his or her right to appellate review.

The Court has held that in California, "litigants have a constitutionally guaranteed right of appeal in all litigated matters within the express jurisdiction of appellate courts." *Powers v. City of Richmond* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 85, 103, quoting *In re Sutter–Butte By–Pass Assessment* (1923) 190 Cal. 532, 536. If a proceeding is within the class of cases over which the appellate courts have jurisdiction under the Constitution, "the appellants have a constitutionally guaranteed right of appeal of which they cannot be deprived." *Powers* at 103, quoting *Sutter-Butte* at 537.

The Legislature may regulate the right of appeal, designating those orders and judgments that may be reviewed by direct appeal and those that must be reviewed by extraordinary writ. *Id.* at 115. The judgment here is a final judgment directly appealable under Code of Civil Procedure § 904.1(a)(1).

A statement of decision helps the losing party exercise his or her constitutional right to appellate review. The trial court's "careful issue iden-

tification and delineation," for example, are often "vitally important to the litigants in framing the issues, if any, that need to be considered or reviewed on appeal." *Miramar Hotel Corp. v. Frank B. Hall & Co.* (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 1126, 1129. A statement of decision furnishes litigants "the means, in many instances, of having their cause reviewed without great expense. . . ." *Frascona*, 48 Cal.App. at 137-138. It may also "render obvious the futility of an appeal." *Miramar*, 163 Cal.App.3d at 1129.

# 2. A statement of facts found is necessary for practical reasons.

Miramar exemplifies a practical reason why the failure to issue a required statement of decision should be reversible error per se. There, after a trial, the court filed a minute order denominated, "MEMORANDUM OF DECISION AND STATEMENT OF DECISION." Despite a timely, proper request for a statement of decision, the court entered judgment without rendering a formal statement of decision. Presiding Justice Spencer reluctantly concurred in reversing the judgment for lack of a statement of decision. Though she disfavored any rule of reversibility per se, she concluded that the lower court's failure to make findings impaired the administration of justice.

[It] now appears the practice in the trial courts of issuing minute orders, such as that utilized in the case at bar, in lieu of complying with the requirements of section 632 is on the in-

crease. The far-reaching and burdensome effects of that practice mandate that it end immediately. Since I perceive no means of effecting that result other than per se reversal, I join with the majority.

Miramar, 163 Cal.App.3d at 1130-1131 (conc. opn. of Spencer, P.J.)

3. A statement of decision promotes efficient appellate review and promotes due administration of justice in the trial courts.

A statement of decision "facilitate[s] appellate review." *Gruendl v. Oewel Partnership, Inc.* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 654, 661. It gives the trial court "an opportunity to place upon record, in definite written form, its views of the facts and the law of the case . . . ." *In re Marriage of Davis* (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 71, 74-75, quoting *Frascona*, 48 Cal.App. at 137-138. The court's resolution of facts and its legal analysis "make the case easily reviewable on appeal by exhibiting the exact grounds upon which the judgment rests." *Davis*, 141 Cal.App.3d at 75.<sup>2</sup>

The necessity for findings is especially acute in reviewing a trial court's judgment based on an exercise discretion. "It is apparent, however, that each exercise of discretion will occur under a different set of facts, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The statement of decisions also provides a basis for the losing party's new trial motion; he or she is "entitled to know the precise facts found by the court before proceeding..., in order that he [or she] may be able to point out with precision the errors of the court in matters either of fact or law." Frascona, 48 Cal.App. at 138.

[00042176; 13]

that each case must, of necessity, be decided in light of those particular facts." Britt v. Superior Court (1978) 20 Cal.3d 844, 867, quoting Greyhound Corp. v. Superior Court (1961) (court's regulation of discovery); see also, e.g., In re Marriage of Gray (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 504, 523 (apportionment of pension in division of community property). Absent a statement of the factual basis for the court's exercise of discretion, appellant is relegated to the nigh overwhelming burden of convincing the appellate court to find an abuse of discretion. Goodstein v. Superior Court (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1635, 1638 (granting writ of mandate to compel further proceedings where trial court did not make necessary factual findings to support its exercise of discretion).

Furthermore, an exercise of discretion must comport with the law applicable to the facts of the case. *City of Sacramento v. Drew* (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1287, 1297-1298. Without a statement of the factual basis for the court's exercise of discretion, an appellate court cannot effectively review the decision.

Without a statement of decision, an appeal is inevitably reduced to a claim challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. *Miramar* at 1130. Such challenges are burdensome. *Id.* They are nearly impossible to win; the judgment is "effectively insulated from review by the substantial evidence

rule." Wegner, Fairbank and Epstein, Cal. Prac. Guide: Civ. Trials & Ev. (The Rutter Group 2014), § 16:96.

As Justice Thornton of this Court wrote, the failure to make adequate findings "deprives parties of substantial rights on appeal." Murphy v. Bennett (1886) 68 Cal. 528, 538 (dis. opn. of Thornton, J.)

If the facts are properly found, they are before this court, and it can then determine on them whether the proper legal conclusion has been reached. This is very important to a litigant in a court of error or appeal. The correctness of the judgment of the court below cannot be determined by this court where the right as determined, and the facts on which it is based, are not set forth in the findings. In such case the right secured by statute to a litigant is ignored. In fact he is virtually deprived of it.

Id.

# II THE COURT HAS REPEATEDLY HELD THAT FAILURE TO STATE FINDINGS THAT SUPPORT THE JUDGMENT IS REVERSIBLE ERROR

The first California statute governing the conduct of a trial by the court did not require the court to make findings. Stats. 1850, ch. 142, §§ 160-171, pp. 428, 442-443. The following year, the Legislature enacted The Civil Practice Act, Stats. 1851, ch. 5, pp. 51-153. Section 180 provid-

ed in relevant part, "Upon the trial of an issue of fact by the Court, its decision shall be given in writing. . . . In giving its decision, the facts found, and the conclusion of law, shall be separately stated."

Less than a year after the statute became effective the Court held in three cases that without findings, "the judgment cannot stand." Russel v. Armador (1852) 2 Cal. 305; Bowers and Gumbert v. Johns and Barker (1852) 2 Cal. 419; Hoagland v. Clary (1852) 2 Cal. 474, 475. Other decisions to the same effect followed. Breeze v. Doyle (1861) 19 Cal. 101, 104; Garfield v. Knight's Ferry & Table Mountain Water Co. (1861) 17 Cal. 510, 512; Jones v. Block (1866) 30 Cal. 227, 229.

When the Code of Civil Procedure was adopted in 1872, § 632 restated former § 180 of the Practice Act almost verbatim, except that "shall" in the first sentence became "must." The Court continued to hold that the failure to make findings mandated reversal. *People v. Forbes* (1877) 51 Cal. 628, 628-629 (failure to make findings on affirmative defenses); *Billings v. Everett* (1878) 52 Cal. 661, 663-664 (same); *Baggs, et al. v. Smith* (1878) 53 Cal. 88, 89 (no findings on counter-claim); (*Estate of Burton* (1883) 63 Cal. 36; *Warring v. Freear* (1883) 64 Cal. 54, 56 (in equity action, jury verdict does not finally determine issues and "the judgment must be reversed for a failure of the court to find upon such issues."); *Learned v. Castle* (1885) 67 Cal. 41, 43 (same, citing *Warren*); *cf.*, *Haight* 

v. Tryon (1896) 112 Cal. 4, 6 (failure to find on all material issues is ground for new trial as "a decision against law."")

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