IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

F.P., Plaintiff and Respondent

V.

JOSEPH MONIER, Defendant and Appellant

SUPREME COURT FILED

Third District Court of Appeal (Case No. C062329)

NOV - 4 2014

County of Sacramento Superior Court Honorable Judge Robert Ahern (Case No. 06-AS00671) Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*Jeffrey L. Bleich (SBN 144340) Hannah E. Shearer (SBN 292710) Thomas P. Clancy (SBN 295195) MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP 560 Mission Street, 27th Floor San Francisco, CA 94105

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

The Court relied on the fact that there were multiple scenarios in which admission of an involuntary confession might be harmless to conclude that no per se rule was warranted. The Court explained that such examples "suggest . . . [that] in many instances it will be possible for an appellate court to determine with confidence that there is no reasonable probability that the exclusion of the confession would have affected the result." (*Cahill*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 505.)

Given this analysis, the Court determined that "a refusal to inquire into the impact, if any, of the confession on the verdict would result in

complete abandonment of article VI [§13], of the California Constitution." (*Cahill*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 505 [citing *People v Jacobson*, 63 Cal.2d 319, 33].) Here too, to insist on a per se rule in the face of multiple examples in which prejudice would not occur, "would result in complete abandonment" of Article VI, section 13 of the California Constitution.

Although a trial court's failure to issue a statement of decision may at times require reversal in order for the appellate court to effectively perform a review of the material issues, it is impossible to imagine that omission of a statement of decision in the average case is likely to be so prejudicial that it operates like a "bombshell" that affects the entire defense and renders fair review of the record impossible. Presented with a record untainted by structural error, Courts of Appeal are more than capable of determining whether the failure to render a statement of decision was prejudicial or harmless, as when the only arguments advanced on appeal are legal in nature (or, as here, were not preserved at trial).

(d) Adopting A New Exception For Failure To Render a Statement of Decision Would Serve No Purpose and Would Make No Sense In The Context of This Court's Other Precedents

Appellant appears to argue that some special exception should be crafted for the error of failing to issue a statement of decision in order to discourage lower courts from abandoning that responsibility en masse, thus complicating the work of reviewing courts. (AOB 12-13.) This is part of

Appellant's argument that a per se reversal rule for a failure to render a statement of decision is necessary to preserve judicial economy. (*Ibid.*) Appellant implies that, absent such a rule, trial courts may shirk their duties to render statements of decision under section 632 to "far-reaching and burdensome effects." (AOB 11-12 [citing *Miramar*, *supra*, 163 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1130-31 (conc. opn. of Spencer, P.J.)].)

Appellant's assertions about the necessity of a per se reversal rule for the sake of judicial efficiency are belied by California's experience, by federal practice, and by the practice of sister state courts.

First, several California appellate courts already apply harmless error review to trial courts' failure to render a statement of decision, and that practice has not precipitated a wave of trial courts refusing to issue statements of decision. (*Langford v. Thomas* (1926) 200 Cal. 192, 199-200 [252 P. 602]; *Hertel v. Emireck* (1918) 178 Cal. 534, 535 [174 P. 30]; *Geddes & Smith, Inc. v. St. Paul Mercury Indem. Co.* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 602, 605 [47 Cal.Rptr. 564]; *Colburn Biological Inst. v. De Bolt* (1936) 6 Cal.2d 631, 643 [59 P.2d 108].)

California's experience is not unique. For many years, federal courts have held that the failure to issue a required statement of decision is subject to harmless error review. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a) requires that, at the close of evidence in matters tried without a jury, district courts state findings of facts and conclusions of law on the record or in a

memorandum of decision. (Fed. R. Civ. P. 52(a).) This requirement, like section 632, is mandatory. (See 9-52 Moore's Federal Practice Civil § 52.10 (3rd ed. 2014).) Nonetheless, federal courts reject a reversible per se rule for violations of Rule 52(a), recognizing that the erroneous failure to prepare findings may be harmless in cases where "the appellate court can discern enough solid facts from the record as a whole to enable it to render a decision." (Id at § 52.12; see, e.g., Rodriguez v. Robbins (9th Cir. 2013) 715 F.3d 1127, 1133 n.6 ["failure to comply with Rule 52(a) does not require reversal unless a full understanding of the question is not possible without the aid of separate findings" [Citation]]; Boatmen's First Nat'l Bank v. Kansas Pub. Employees Ret. Sys. (8th Cir. 1995) 57 F.3d 638, 640 n.5 [Rule 52(a) error not reversible when "the record itself sufficiently informs the court of the basis for the trial court's decision on the material issues"]; Rothenberg v. Security Management Co. (11th Cir. 1984) 736 F.2d 1470 [same].)

There is no evidence that this harmless error rule has inspired federal district courts to shirk their obligation to issue decisions or resulted in any of the "far-reaching and burdensome effects" Appellant predicts. (AOB 11-12.) To the contrary, several Circuits have recognized that a harmless error rule serves the purposes of Rule 52(a), including its goal of promoting judicial economy. (*Dann v. Studebaker-Packard Corp.* (6th Cir. 1961) 288 F.2d 201, 205-06 & n.7 ["in the interests of judicial economy," court would

decide appeal despite trial court's failure to issue a statement of reasons] [collecting cases] [disapproved of on other grounds by *J. I. Case Co. v. Borak* (1964) 377 U.S. 426, 434]; *Kweskin v. Finkelstein* (7th Cir. 1955) 223 F.2d 677, 679 [court would, in the right case, "consider the failure to make adequate findings of fact non-reversible" because a remand "involve[s] a delay and additional expense"]; *Burman v. Lenkin Const. Co.* (D.C. Cir. 1945) 149 F.2d 827, 828 [in light of "record considered as a whole . . . it would be both a waste of time and a needless expense to send the case back to the District Court for special findings of fact"].)

Appellant's claim that there will be judicial gridlock without a per se rule is further undercut by the fact that many states employ a harmless error rule rather than a per se reversal rule when reviewing cases unaccompanied by required findings of fact. At least 27 states have explicitly held that the failure to prepare a statement of decision is not reversible per se, and courts in at least three other states have implicitly done so, by relying on a finding of prejudice before reversing. Thus, although Appellant would have this

^{12 (}Cormier v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth. (D.C. 2013) 84 A.3d 492, 498 n.9 ["deficiency in factual findings" will not be reversed "where the trial court's decision is clearly supported by the record" [Citations]]; Sneil, LLC v. Tybe Learning Ctr., Inc. (Mo. 2012) 370 S.W.3d 562, 573-74 (en banc) ["[T]he failure of a circuit court to make findings of fact that were requested properly does not automatically mandate reversal."]; Tenery v. Tenery (Tex. 1996) (per curiam) 932 S.W.2d 29, 30 ["A trial court's failure to make findings is not harmful error if the record before the appellate court affirmatively shows that the complaining party suffered no injury (footnote continued)

[citations]]; see also Lovlace v. Copley (Tenn. 2013) 418 S.W.3d 1, 36; State ex rel. Gilbert v. Cincinnati (Ohio 2010) 125 Ohio St. 3d 385, 393; Akers v. Mortensen (Idaho 2009) 147 Idaho 39, 44-45; Shelhamer v. Shelhamer (Wyo. 2006) 138 P.3d 665, 674-75; Taylor v. Elkins Home Show, Inc. (W. Va. 2001) 210 W. Va. 612, 618; Lemon v. Commw., Dept. of Transp. Bureau of Driver Licensing (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2000) 763 A.2d 534, 537-38 & n.2; Backlund v. Univ. of Wash. (Wash. 1999) 137 Wash. 2d 651, 657; F.E.H., Jr. v. State of Ind. (Ind. Ct. App. 1999) 715 N.E.2d 1272, 1275; Lowery v. Lowery (Miss. 1995) 657 So.2d 817, 819; D & R Realty v. Bender (Neb. 1988) 230 Neb. 301, 306-07; Milton v. Dennis (N.Y. 1983) 464 N.Y.S.2d 874, 874-75; Kinkella v. Baugh (Utah 1983) 660 P.2d 233, 236; Podany v. Podany (Minn. 1978) 267 N.W.2d 500, 502-03; In re Wilson (Mass. 1977) 372 Mass. 325, 330; Stugelmayer v. Ulmer (S.D. 1977) 260 N.W.2d 236, 240; Walber v. Walber (Wis. 1968) 40 Wis. 2d 313, 319; Rowell v. Kaplan (R.I. 1967) 103 R.I. 60, 70; City of Phoenix v. Consol. Water Co. (Ariz. 1966) 101 Ariz. 43, 45; Anderson v. Allstate Ins. Co. (N.C. 1966) 266 N.C. 309, 313; Mann v. Mann (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1962) (per curiam) 145 So. 2d 886, 886-87; Tamsk v. Cont'l Oil Co. (Kan. 1944) 158 Kan. 747 [150 P.2d 326]; Flueling v. Blue Ribbon Auto Drivers' Ass'n (Mich. 1929) 247 Mich. 620, 622-23; Curtin v. Moroney (Okla. 1925) 246 P. 232, 236; Edwards v. Louisville & N.R. Co. (Ala. 1918) 202 Ala. 463, 465-66.) Three other states have not explicitly endorsed a harmless error rule using one of these formulations, but have seemed to rely on a finding of prejudice. (In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh (S.C. 2002) 351 S.C. 122, 133 [remanding for failure to comply with South Carolina's Rule 52(a) when appellate court's "review of the record cannot save the order from its deficiencies"]; Curtis v. Finneran (N.J. 1980) 83 N.J. 563, 569-71 [remand necessary when trial court failed to enter findings but issued statement containing "several mistakes that may have contributed to" the outcome]; Cmty. Bank v. U. S. Nat'l Bank of Oregon (Or. 1976) 276 Or. 471, 478-79 [remand necessary when it was impossible to determine whether ruling was based on rejection of evidence or a legal conclusion].) Other states appear to have had no occasion to decide between a per se or harmless error rule because state procedure requires appellants to remedy a judge's failure to issue findings of fact through various statutory mechanisms before appeal is permitted. (E.g., Reader v. Cassarino (Conn. 1998) 51 Conn. App. 292, 296; Hester v. Hester (La. Ct. App. 1996) 680 So.2d 1232, 1236; Korsrud v. Korsrud (Iowa 1951) 242 Iowa 178, 183.)

Court believe that to reject a per se rule for failure to render a statement of decision would plunge appellate courts into a hopeless abyss of inefficiency, in actuality, such a decision would align California with the majority of state and federal courts. These courts have found that employment of a harmless error review actually furthers judicial efficiency because it prevents needless and undeserved retrials years removed from pertinent facts and witnesses.

Moreover, a special new rule for the failure to render a statement of decision would create confusion in the lower courts because it would be impossible to reconcile with this Court's other precedents regarding harmless error review. Appellant offers no rational theory by which treating the technical, and often non-prejudicial, failure to render a statement of decision as per se reversible error can be squared with this Court's mandate that Article VI, section 13 applies even in situations where the error at issue is far more likely to result in actual prejudice, such as in O'Bryan, Cahill, and Soule. Here, the error complained of did not even occur during trial, and could not have affected the trial's outcome or called into question the essential fairness of the proceeding. Departure from O'Bryan, Cahill, and Soule's clear rejection of per se error rules absent exigent circumstances would send a message to the lower courts and enterprising appellants that Article VI, section 13 of the California Constitution does not mean what it says, and that there exist broad

categories of technical, non-structural errors that may justify per se rules of reversal.

In sum, this Court's precedents make clear that neither of the narrow exceptions to the bar on per se reversal apply to a failure to render a statement of decision, and no basis exists to establish a new exception.

II. APPLYING A HARMLESS ERROR RULE TO A FAILURE TO RENDER A STATEMENT OF DECISION WOULD FRUSTRATE RATHER THAN ADVANCE JUDICIAL ECONOMY

Finally, Appellant's proposed rule not only undermines the purpose of Article VI, section 13, but it would also undermine the purpose of section 632. As Appellant acknowledges, the requirement of a statement of decision is designed to improve judicial efficiency by facilitating appellate review. (AOB 12-14.) While issuance of a statement of decision should indeed facilitate simpler appellate review, forcing the system to retry every case where that requirement is breached would impose disproportionately greater drag on the judicial system.

Where it is clear no prejudice has occurred, per se reversal necessarily creates the judicial inefficiencies that Article VI, section 13 was promulgated to eradicate, and that section 632 never intended. As this Court noted in *O'Bryan*, prior to the passage of section 13's predecessor, section 4 1/2, appellate courts were not permitted to weigh evidence and could not therefore review the record to determine whether the error

complained of had "worked injury." (*O'Bryan*, 165 Cal. at pp. 63-64.)

This was unsatisfactory because it "hamper[ed] the state in its efforts for a prompt and effective enforcement of the prohibitions and penalties of its penal laws." (*Id.* at p. 64.) The prohibition on harmless error review created inefficiencies and decreased confidence in the judicial system because it sometimes required granting new trials "to defendants on account of technical errors or omissions" even in situations where the error was harmless and the judgment resulted from "a procedure which was substantially fair and just." (*Ibid.*) To alleviate such inefficiencies, *O'Bryan* reasoned section 4 1/2 (now section 13) of Article VI "must be given at least the effect of abrogating the old rule that prejudice is presumed from any error of law." (*Id.* at p. 65.)

Cahill is in accord, describing the public policy considerations behind section 13 as preserving the efficiency and efficacy of the system. In Cahill, the Court noted the problems attendant with per se reversal:

When a defendant has received a fair trial, and a review of the record reveals that, although some evidence improperly was admitted at trial, there was also an overwhelming amount of additional, properly admitted evidence clearly establishing the defendant's guilt, reversal of the judgment will result either in a superfluous retrial in which the outcome is a foregone conclusion or, even more unfortunately, in a new trial whose result is altered by the loss of essential witnesses or testimony through the passage of time. In either event, public

confidence in the operation of the criminal justice system is diminished.

(Cahill, 5 Cal.4th at p. 509.)

Application of a per se rule for a failure to render a statement of decision would work the same inefficiencies in this case. Appellant received a fair trial and was given an opportunity to present his own evidence; he could have presented—but chose not to present—evidence and argument on the issues he later raised in his request for a statement of decision, including apportionment. (*F.P. v. Monier, supra*, 222 Cal.App.4th at p. 1101.) Retrial would be an arid exercise because, despite the absence of a statement of decision on the issues that Appellant later pursued on appeal, the Court of Appeal was able to decide each of those issues as a matter of law or based on clear record evidence.

Moreover, a new trial on damages would be inevitably altered by the passage of time. Such a trial would be at least 25 years removed from the sexual assaults and seven years from the past trial. Requiring a new trial to determine appropriate damages arising from assaults that occurred 25 years ago, even though an appellate court has already determined that rendering a statement of decision would not have affected the damages awarded or Appellant's entitlement to apportionment, would do nothing but further clog the court system, decrease public faith in the institution, and create a tremendous burden for a sexual assault victim. (Cf. *United States v.*

Hasting (1983) 461 U.S. 499, 507 [103 S.Ct. 1974] [before declining to apply usual harmless-error rule, appellate court should have "consider[ed] the trauma the victims of these particularly heinous crimes would experience in a new trial, forcing them to relive harrowing experiences now long past" and "the practical problems of retrying these sensitive issues more than four years after the events"].)

Although Appellant grounds his advocacy for a per se rule in the name of judicial efficiency, this Court has made clear that per se rules actually result in greater inefficiencies. The Court of Appeal is capable of undertaking review to determine when a failure to render a decision was harmless or not. To strip them of that power, and require that all failures result in automatic reversal, no matter how immaterial the issues presented, would result in unnecessary, delayed, and unjust trials.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeal properly rejected the rule Appellant seeks.

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